I. INTRODUCTION 

Petitioner/ Appellant Lee Mackessy brought a partition action m 

Spokane County Superior Court to divide Defendant/Respondent 

Allinger's Military Retirement Benefits on November 21, 2013. The 

Petition requested that the Court Partition the community property portion 

of the Allinger's Military Retirement that accrued during the parties' 

marriage as it was neither mentioned nor distributed in the parties' 

dissolution entered in 1998. Following a bench trial, the Court denied 

Mackessy's petition on the grounds that there was no legal theory to 

support the petition and the equitable defenses of laches, detrimental 

reliance, and waiver applied. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

(1] THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE 
PETITIONER HAD NO LEGAL THEORY TO SUPPORT HER 
ACTION AND IN DENYING THE PETITION WHEN THE 
COURT MADE A FINDING OF FACT THAT THE MILITARY 
RETIREMENT WAS NOT INCLUDED IN THE DECREE OF 
DISSOLUTION. 

[2] THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT (1) THE 
PARTIES' PREVIOUS LEGAL REPRESENTATION 
DISCOLSED AND DISCUSSED THE MILITARY 
RETIREMENT AND (2) THAT ALLINGER WAS STILL 
BURDENED BY SUBSTANTIAL DEBT TAKEN FROM THE 
DISSOLUTION IN 1998. 
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[3] THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE 
EQUITABLE DEFENSES OF WAIVER, LACHES, AND 
PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL APPLIED. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Allinger and Mackessy were lawfully married on November 1, 1986, 

m Aiken, South Carolina. CP 4. Both Allinger and Mackessy were 

employed by the United States army at the time of their marriage. Id. 

Allinger joined the military on September 23, 1985. Id. Allinger was in 

and out of the Army and Reserves until 2012. Id. 

The parties initially filed for divorce in 1996, both were represented by 

counsel. Exhibit Pl. The parties reconciled and had their third child. RP 

39, 13. The parties then petitioned for divorce in 1998. CP 5. An order of 

Dissolution was entered on December 2, 1998, Cause Number 98-3-

01639-4. The dissolution was approved by the then Honorable 

Commissioner Ellen Clark. CP 7:8. Section 2.8 of the Finings of Facts and 

Conclusions of Law was marked and listed the parties' community 

property. Id. Allinger's military retirement was not listed in Section 2.8. 

Id. Section 2.9 was marked and identified Allinger's and Mackessy's 

separate property. Id. Allinger's military retirement was not listed as 

separate property of either of the parties. Id. Additionally, the military 

retirement was not referenced or listed or memorialized in the Decree of 

Dissolution. Id. 
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Mackessy left the military sometime between 1986 and 1988 because 

Allinger was activated out of reserves and Mackessy chose to quit the 

military in order to stay at home with their children while Allinger was in 

Iraq for over 15 months. RP 39, 21:24; RP 58, 9:10. Mackessy never 

returned to the military during the duration of the parties' marriage or 

after. Mackessy had been out of the military nearly ten (10) years without 

an intention to return at the time of the dissolution in 1998. Id. 

Allinger's military retirement matured on July 31, 2012, and now 

receives monthly compensation directly correlated to the length of 

Allinger's service and rank upon retirement. Exhibit Rl06. Allinger 

currently receives approximately $2,487.00 each month for his retirement 

benefits. Id. 

The parties modified their residential schedule and parenting plan 

relating back to the 1998 dissolution several times including in 2005, 

2010, and 2013. 

Mackessy became aware of Allinger's military retirement through 

Allinger's financial disclosures during discovery relating to a petition for 

modification filed by Allinger in 2013. RP 53, l :4. Mackessy brought this 

partition action on November 21, 2013, less than nine (9) months after 

learning of Allinger's military retirement. CP 1. 
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In March of 2015, Mackessy and Allinger filed cross motions for 

summary judgment. CP 34-41, 50-56. The Court denied both parties' 

motion for summary judgment holding that there was an issue of material 

fact as to the parties' agreement at the time of dissolution that prohibited a 

ruling on summary judgment. CP 115-116. 

This matter went to trial on August 11, 2015. The Court heard 

testimony from Mackessy and Allinger. 

At trial, counsel agreed that it is undisputed that Allinger receives 

military retirement benefits and the parties' community property interest 

was 35 percent of the retirement and Mackessy' separate property interest 

is 17.5 percent. The proper calculation would be 17.5 percent of Allinger's 

retirement to Mackessy or approximately $435.00 per month if the Court 

were to partition the asset. RP 31, 2:4. 

At trial, Mackessy testified that in the initial divorce, Mackessy was 

represented by Peter Karademos and Allinger Represented by Mary 

Schultz. RP 3 8, 14: 16. Mackessy testified that neither attorney ever 

mentioned a pension or separation of Allinger's military pension as 

community property. RP 38, 16;18; 39, 7:8. Upon questioning by the 

Court, Mackessy testified that for six months of the dissolution 

proceedings in 1996, the parties were actively litigating the divorce with 

discovery ongoing. RP 73-75. During redirect, Mackessy testified that the 
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entirety of the litigation and discovery was focused exclusively on the 

Parenting Plan. RP 80, 11: 17. 

At trial, Allinger also testified that the 1996 petition for divorce 

focused exclusively on the parenting plan. RP 94, 15:25; 95 1 :3. Allinger 

stated that the only issues discussed in the divorce were the parenting plan 

and the parties never got to the financial issues. Id. 

Mackessy testified that there was absolutely no discussion regarding 

the military retirement between Allinger and Mackessy when discussing 

what was allocated as assets in the dissolution in 1998. RP 41, 8:20. 

Mackessy testified that had the military retirement been discussed it would 

have been written down and included in the dissolution. RP 65, 12: 14. 

Mackessy testified that she first spoke to Allinger regarding the 

military retirement about three years ago in 2012, after Allinger requested 

a modification of the parenting plan and his retirement pension was 

disclosed on the financial worksheet. RP 53, 1 :4. 

Allinger testified that the military retirement was discussed during the 

dissolution in 1998, but admitted that there were some things that were not 

included in the dissolution paperwork. 95- 96. 

Allinger stated that at each modification of the parenting plan, 

Mackessy waived and "re-waived" her rights to Allinger's military 

pension. CP- response to SJ by Allinger. However, the military pension 
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was never mentioned in any of the paperwork filed with the court. RP 107, 

16: 19. Allinger testified that the petition for modification in 2013 was 

purely for housekeeping in order for the paperwork to reflect an accurate 

record of the agreement by the parties. RP 108, 9: 15. Allinger further 

testified that he was an organized person who likes to have his ducks in a 

row. RP 108-109. 

Evidence was presented during the Summary Judgment proceedings 

and trial that Allinger discharged a significant portion of the debt he 

"took" from the dissolution in a chapter 7 bankruptcy filed on August 30, 

2000, discharging the $32,671.08 in unsecured debt from the divorce. CP 

Deel of Lee Mackessy in Support of Response to SJ.; CP P - 9. 

The Court gave its ruling orally on August 13, 2015. The ruling is 

fully integrated into the Order. CP 177-180. The Court found that there is 

no dispute that Allinger's retirement was not mentioned in any of the 

divorce documents. RP 153, 13:15. The Court added that a number of 

things were not included in the final divorce documents, although the 

documents were very well done and very thorough for pro se litigants. RP 

153 16:25. 

The Court explicitly emphasized that the fact that the military 

retirement was not an undisclosed asset. RP 154, 23:24. The Court also 
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focused on the fact that the parties had counsel in the initial petition for 

dissolution in 1996. The Court stated, 

In my opinion, there is simply no chance, there is just no 
chance that, with attorneys of this caliber, that the military 
retirement, when the initial divorce was filed, that the 
military retirement and any retirement for that matter would 
not have been fully explored through discovery... Again, 
my point is, there is no undisclosed asset here. Ms. 
Mackessy knew the husband had retirement points, as we 
would call them. And Mr. Allinger knew that his wife had 
accumulated retirement points. So I guess the question 
before the Court is: Why not mention that in the divorce 
decree? And none of us can go back in time and climb into 
a time machine and figure all this out and be there. Only 
the parties know, and they have their-each of them have 
their perspective about what happened. Could be all sorts of 
reasons for this. 

RP156, 14-25; 157, 1:9. The Court continued: 

Now, really, the biggest problem that I have is, I'll just call 
it Ms. Mackessy's theory of the case. And that really runs 
contrary to public policy that we want to promote in 
Washington State, and that policy is to allow people to 
contract between themselves and to settle cases without the 
necessity of time-consuming, expensive litigation." 

RP 158, 18:23. The Court continues to explain further issues with 

Mackessy's theory of the case when there is no purposely concealed 

property. RP 161, 22:23. The Court stated it understood partition actions 

wherein property is left out based on deception or fraud, but the Court 

found that Mackessy had no theory of the case as nothing was hidden, 

nothing was concealed. RP 163, 10: 1 1 . 
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The Court found that the military retirement was not included in the 

dissolution because it "just wasn't important enough for the parties to 

mention because the retirement doesn't amount to anything. It didn't 

amount to anything when they got divorced in December of 1998. And so, 

Ms. Mackessy walked away from the retirement." RP 164, 2:6. 

The Court concludes based on the fact that Mackessy knew the 

retirement benefits existed and were not listed in the dissolution that 

Mackessy has no valid, legal theory. "Ms. Mackessy, well, she shouldn't 

have signed off on the decree and the findings if she had any intention 

whatsoever of laying claim to the military retirement at a later date. There 

simply is no valid, legal theory that supports her argument. There is no 

fraud. There was no deception. There was no concealment." RP 166, 2:6. 

The Court continued to hold that Allinger had multiple theories, some 

of which were advanced to the Court, and some of which he didn't, that 

support denying the petition. RP 166, 16:18. First, was the legal defense of 

waiver, the court found Mackessy waived any future claim to the 

retirement. "First and foremost would be waiver by the wife as to any 

future claim to retirement, and her actions clearly dictate that that's 

exactly what she did." RP 166, 19:21. The Court made no other findings 

relating to the defense of waiver. 
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The Court also held that the equitable theory of }aches applied. The 

Court found Mackessy chose not to pursue the retirement plan for 16 

years. Pg 166 line 25- pg 167 line 1. The Court found that Mackessy knew 

about the military retirement "from day one" and waited 16 years to 

pursue a claim. RP 167, 5:9. The Court made no other findings under the 

theory of lac hes. 

Finally, the Court proposed the equitable defense of detrimental 

reliance, which the Court found applied to this case. The Court stated, 

"When the wife signed that decree, Mr. Allinger relied on the fact that she 

wouldn't, at some future time, lay claim to the military retirement, and 

husband then relies on that to his detriment." RP 16 7, 14: 1 7. The Court 

continues, "So, arguendo, Mr. Allinger, who is disabled and he is the sole 

source of income in his household, supporting a wife and young child and 

sounds like an adult child too, relies on every penny of his military 

retirement probably in planning his finances and his life." RP 167, 17:21. 

The Court continues, "When one considers that [sic] factor that the Court 

was made well aware of that Mr. Allinger is still laboring to pay off the 

huge amount of unsecured debt that it appears he took on after the 

divorce." RP 168, 2:4. The Court made no other findings relating to the 

legal theory of detrimental reliance. 
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Based on these findings and conclusions, the Court denied the 

Partition action as it pertains to the military retirement in total. RP 168, 

8:9. The Court also held that each party was responsible for its own 

attorney fees and costs. RP 169, 19:22. 

IV.ARGUMENT 

ASSIGNEMTN OF ERROR [1]: 
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE PETITIONER 

HAD NO LEGAL THEORY TO SUPPORT HER ACTION AND IN 
DENYING THE PETITION WHEN THE COURT MADE A 
FINDING OF FACT THAT THE MILITARY RETIREMENT WAS 
NOT INCLUDED IN THE DECREE OF DISSOLUTION. 

A. MACKESSY HAS A LEGAL THEORY TO BRING A 
PARTITION ACTION AND IS ENTITLED TO PARTITION 
AS A MATTER OF LAW BASED ON THE COURT'S 
FINDING OF FACT THAT THE MILITARY RETIREMENT 
WAS NOT INCLUDED IN THE DECREE OF 
DISSOLUTION. 

The appellate courts review a trial court's conclusions of law de novo. 

Sunnyside Valley Irr. Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880 (2003). The 

trial court denied Mackessy's Petition stating Mackessy had no legal 

theory to support a partition of the military retirement. RP 166, 2:6. 

However, it is clear under Washington case law that Mackessy has a legal 

theory to bring her partition action. 

As the Washington State Supreme Court explained in Chase v. Chase, 

"As a general rule, if the court does not dispose of community property in 
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a decree of divorce, rights to such undistributed property vest equally in 

spouses as tenants in common by operation of law." 74 Wn.2d 253, 257-

58 ( 1968). Where there is no disposition of the property rights of the 

parties by the divorce court, the "community property must become 

common property." Ambrose v. Moore. 46 Wn. 463, 466 (1907). The 

Courts reasoned that after the divorce, there is no community and there 

can be no community property. Id. Therefore, if the divorce does not vest 

or divest title, the title does not remain in abeyance, and it must vest in the 

former owners of the property as tenants in common. Id. (Internal citations 

omitted). "The rule is well settled that property of the spouses not 

disposed of by a divorce decree vests equally in the parties, who are 

tenants in common." Pittman v. Pittman, 64 Wn.2d 735, 737 (1964) citing 

Cowan v. Sullivan. 48 Wn.2d 680 (1956); Olsen v. Roberts, 42 Wn.2d 862 

(1953); and Sears v. Rusden, 39 Wn.2d 412 (1951). The Courts have 

consistently held that community property not disposed of in the 

dissolution decree becomes the property of the former spouses as tenants 

in common. 

The proper action to allocate and determine the rights of the tenants is 

common is a partition action. Olsen, 42 Wn.2d at 864. (stating "of course, 

an action for partition will lie by a tenant in common."). In Seals v. Seals. 

the court directed that "since the property here was undisclosed the 
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partition action was necessary for its disposition." 22 Wn.App. 652, 655 

(Div. III, 1979) (emphasis added). The court may divide the property 

without reference to the previous division and equity of assets in the 

dissolution wherein the asset was not included. Wagers v. Goodwin. 92 

Wn. App. 876, 884-84 (1998). 

Furthermore, allegations of fraudulent concealment of community 

property in the divorce action is not necessary to support a partition action. 

Olsen 42 Wn.2d at 865. The Washington Supreme Court held that "the 

reason why the court did not dispose of the community property in the 

divorce proceeding is immaterial." Id In Olsen. the amended petition was 

found not to be attacking the decree for fraud or concealment of an asset in 

a divorce action, but simply seeking to partition property that was outside 

of the initial decree. Id The trial court which dismissed the petition, was 

reversed, and the appellate court in Olsen, held that the petitioner indeed 

had a cause of action. Id Therefore, the material issue is simply whether 

the community asset was disposed of in the divorce action. 

Furthermore, in order to dispose of an asset in a dissolution action, 

there must be sufficient specificity in the settlement agreements or decrees 

of dissolution to identify the assets and their disposition. Yeats v. Yeats' 

Estate. 90 Wn.2d 201, 205 (1978). In Yeats. after 24 years of marriage, 

Milliam and Agnes Yeats filed for dissolution and contemporaneously 
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signed a property settlement agreement. Id. at 203. The question presented 

for the trial court at summary judgment, was whether the property 

settlement agreement disposed of certain insurance policies and other 

property. Id. The Settlement Agreement contained boilerplate language in 

relation to the insurance policies. 1 However, at the time of the execution of 

the Settlement Agreement, there were nine life insurance policies on the 

life of the husband and three on the life of the wife. Id. at 205. 

The Yeats Court found the boilerplate language inadequate to dispose 

of the policies reasoning that one cannot learn what might have been 

agreed to from the terms of the agreement. Id. "It is pure speculation to 

determine what the parties intended or what the agreement meant. We 

hold that there must be sufficient specificity in settlement agreements or 

decrees of dissolution to identify the assets and their disposition." Id. The 

Court found the requisite specificity was not present in Yeats inasmuch as 

the policies were not even mentioned. 

The Yeats court continued and discussed the underlying policy 

question as to the specificity required in dealing with such matters in a 

settlement agreement or a decree of dissolution in contention with the 

policy for settlement and finality of divorces. Id. The dissolution of 

1 "II. Insurance: The Husband shall maintain in effect for the benefit of the 
Wife life insurance on the life of the Husband in the amount of $10,000.00 
naming the Wife as sole beneficiary thereof." Id. at 204. 
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marriage act mandates disposition of the property of the parties. RCW 

26.09.050 provides in part: "In entering a decree of dissolution of 

marriage ... the court shall consider, approve ... the disposition of property 

and liability of the parties." Although RCW 26.09.070 encourages written 

separation contracts by making them binding on the court, the statute 

leaves final authority in the court if it finds the agreement unfair at the 

time of its execution. RCW 26.09.080 specifically requires that the court 

shall make a just and equitable division of property, considering the nature 

and extent of community and separate property. "It is impossible for the 

court to perform its statutorily mandated duties if it is unaware of the 

nature and extent of the property." Yeats, 90 Wn.2d at 205. It is necessary 

for the court to know what assets exist in order to consider them in 

evaluating the dispositive scheme. Id. Based on these holdings and 

reasoning, the Yeats Court affirmed the trial court's decision granting 

summary judgment in favor of the wife holding the wife and husband 

became tenants in common as to the community owned policies. Id. at 

206. The Court partitioned the policies pursuant to the parties' respective 

interests. 

The Yeats court did not specifically discuss the fact that the life 

insurance policies were known by the parties and disclosed assets at the 

time of the execution of the settlement agreement. However, because the 
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settlement agreement generally referenced the existence of life insurance 

policies as an asset, although in vague, unspecific, boilerplate language, it 

can be assumed that the court knew the parties had knowledge of the 

existence of the insurance policies at the time of the execution of the 

settlement agreement. The Yeats Court took no issue in partitioning the 

assets despite the fact that they were known disclosed assets. The 

exclusive and material issue for the Court was whether the agreement 

between the parties adequately specified the policies in order for the court 

to dispose of the assets in a divorce action. Therefore, logic concludes that 

the disclosed or undisclosed nature of the assets is immaterial to partition 

assets not contained in a settlement agreement or decree of dissolution. 

Persuasive authority with facts similar to the facts in this case comes 

out of California in the Huddleson v. Huddleson and Norton v. Norton 

cases. In Huddleson. over 12 years after dissolution, the wife brought an 

action seeking distribution of the pension as an undistributed community 

property asset. Huddleson v. Huddleson, 187 Cal. App.3d 1564, 1568 

(1986). The trial court entered judgment n favor of the wife awarding 12.4 

percent of the pension. Id. The appellate court affirmed, stating, 

"Regardless of whether the parties know of, or discuss, the vested pension, 

if the 'court was not called upon to award it, and did not award it, as 

community property, separate property, or any property at all' then the 
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pension is a missed asset subject to a post-dissolution claim. Id. at 1569 

(internal citations omitted). 

The husband in Huddleson also argued that the wife waived her claim. 

The trial court found that the plaintiff had not waived her rights in the 

pension because she did not know what her rights were with respect to it at 

the time she agreed to the property settlement. Id. at 1571. The wife 

testified that the parties thought the pension had no cash value at the time 

the dissolution was entered and the settlement agreement was signed. Id. 

at 1572. The appellate court affirmed the trial court's ruling that waiver 

did not apply because although she knew of the existence of the pension, 

the wife did not believe she possessed a present claim to her community 

interest in the pension. Id. at 1572-73. 

The husband in Huddleson also asserted the equitable defense of 

laches. The wife upon learning that she had community interest in the 

pension delayed approximately one year from the time she first learned of 

her interest until she filed suit and the retirement matured near the time of 

the trial. Id. at 1574. The appellate court affirmed the trial court's ruling 

that although 12 years is a lengthy wait, the nature of pensions and the 

wife's timeliness with filing the lawsuit after learning of her interest in the 

pension was not barred by laches. Id. 
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The California appellate court reiterates at the conclusion of the 

Huddleson case that the rationale for allowing recovery of such omitted 

assets is a public policy choice which favors the equitable division of 

marital property over the competing concern for preserving the finality 

and stability of judgments. Id. citing Casas v. Thompson 42 Cal3d 131, 

141 (California Supreme Court, 1986). 

Similarly in Norton v. Norton. a 24 year delay to partition pension 

benefits which constituted community property was granted. 2006 WL 

234748. In the Norton case, both parties knew about the pension, were 

represented by counsel throughout the dissolution proceedings, but neither 

party listed it during the divorce proceedings or in the stipulated judgment 

of dissolution. Id. at 1. The appellate court affirmed the partition of the 

pension. 

The case law is clear that Mackessy has a legal theory to partition the 

military retirement despite the absence of fraud or concealment contrary to 

the trial court's ruling. The reason why the military retirement was not 

included in the dissolution is immaterial; the only material issue is 

whether the military retirement was included and disposed of in the 

dissolution by the court. The record is clear: the military retirement was 

not a part of the dissolution. It was an error of law to deny the petition for 
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partition on the grounds that the military retirement was a known asset 

when it was not included in the dissolution. 

When the trial court made a finding based on the evidence presented at 

trial that the military retirement was not included in the dissolution, the

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