JUN 1) 7 2015

COURT OF APPEAUS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

Appellate Case No. 338274-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re:	
	Lee Mackessy, Appellant,
	v.
	Richard Allinger, Respondent.
	Brief of Respondent

Spencer W. Harrington, WSBA # 35907 Attorney for Respondent

Harrington Law Office, PLLC 1517 W. Broadway Avenue Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 838-8300

I.

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

III. Argument

The party challenging a trial court's decision, [here Ms. Mackessy], has the burden of demonstrating that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion. In re Marriage of Griffin, 114 Wash.2d 772, 776, 791 P.2d 519 (1990). "Here, there is no evidence the court abused its discretion. A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wash.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997). The court in this case applied the statute and case law to the facts before it and arrived at a reasonable decision. A court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is based on an incorrect legal standard. Id. There is no basis to find the trial court abused its discretion and this appeal is frivolous.

The appellate court is charged with the duty to review the trial court's findings of fact for substantial evidence. <u>In re Marriage of Skarbek</u>, 100 Wash.App. 444, 447, 997 P.2d 447 (2000). "Substantial evidence exists if the record contains evidence of sufficient quantity to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise." <u>Bering v. Share</u>, 106 Wash.2d 212, 220, 721 P.2d 918 (1986). Where the trial court has weighed the evidence, the reviewing court's role

is simply to determine whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings in turn support the trial court's conclusions of law. In re Marriage of Greene, 97 Wash.App. 708, 714, 986 P.2d 144 (1999). An appellate court should "not substitute [its] judgment for the trial court's, weigh the evidence, or adjudge witness credibility." Here, the trial court's decision is based on the substantial evidence before it and the court did not abuse its discretion. This court should deny the appeal in its entirety.

"When the parties to a separation agreement dispute its meaning, the court must ascertain and effectuate their intent at the time they formed the agreement. Generally, this is true even when the separation agreement has been incorporated in a dissolution decree, because the parties' intent will be the court's intent. The intent of the parties is determined by examining their objective manifestations, including both the written agreement and the context within which it was executed." Boisen v. Burgess, 87 Wn.

App. 912 (1997), review denied, 134 Wn.2d 1014 (1998); In re Marriage of Sievers, 78 Wash. App. 287 (1995); In re Marriage of Mudgett, 41 Wash. App. 337 (1985).

Thus, we determine the parties' intent by viewing the contract as a whole, which includes the subject matter and intent of the contract, examination of the circumstances surrounding its formation, subsequent

acts and conduct of the parties, the reasonableness of the respective interpretations advanced by the parties, and statements made by the parties during preliminary negotiations, trade usage, and/or course of dealing. <u>In re Marriage of McCausland</u>, 129 Wn. App. 390 (2005), reversed on other grounds, 159 Wn.2d 607 (2007); <u>Adler v. Fred Lind Manor</u>, 153 Wn.2d 331 (2004); <u>Hollis v. Garwall</u>, 137 Wn.2d 683 (1999); <u>Nationwide Mut.</u> Fire Ins. Co. v. Watson, 120 Wn.2d 178.

As stated above, the court must ascertain and effectuate their intent at the time they formed the agreement. Here, Ms. Mackessy drafted all of the final documents, including the Decree. Ms. Mackessy was aware of the parties' assets and liabilities. Ms. Mackessy was aware of her own, and Mr. Allinger's, service in the military and the accrual of pension by them both. Ms. Mackessy negotiated an agreement wherein she received a home, car, her accrued retirement benefits, and no other substantial debts in exchange for Mr. Allinger taking all of the debt, his personal property and any accrued retirement benefits.

Pensions may be divided by awarding 100% of the pension to one party and a compensating asset or marital lien to the other party. <u>In re</u>

<u>Marriage of Wright</u>, 78 Wn. App. 230 (1995); <u>DeRevere v. DeRevere</u>, 5

Wn. App. 741 (1971). The parties agreed to award the possible military

retirement accrued during the marriage to Mr. Allinger in two separate manners. First by Ms. Mackessy including language in the Decree, written by her own hand, stating that Mr. Allinger would receive, "Everything already taken." RP 64. It can also be ascertained that the parties by their agreement outside the Decree that they each intended to retain any benefit or debt in their name. RP 103-104.

Ms. Mackessy is the drafter of the Decree and Findings of Fact, and she is also the one who wrote in the language "everything already taken." RP 64, 95. Mr. Allinger testified that the parties specifically discussed their individual retirement "points" earned and each agreed that they would keep their own. RP 96. The phrase "everything already taken" was inserted by Ms. Mackessy into the Decree after the discussion regarding the military retirement "points" each had accrued. RP 96.

Ms. Mackessy had earned a Bachelor's of Science Degree, a

Master's Degree in Science, and a Master's Degree in Business. RP 56-57.

Ms. Mackessy's father is retired military receiving a retirement, and

Ms. Mackessy's sister is a practicing attorney. RP 53. Ms. Mackessy is

not an unsophisticated person and she is well educated.

Furthermore, Ms. Mackessy admits she knew she was earning military retirement points, and knew Mr. Allinger was earning military

retirement points but she chose not to specifically include either in the Decree she drafted. RP 58.

Mr. Allinger points out that Ms. Mackessy never provided any accounting of her retirement "points" earned at trial or at any time at all.

RP 86. Mr. Allinger alleged that the court could look at his "points" earned and Ms. Mackessy's "points" earned but she refused to provide any evidence whatsoever or her military retirement "points" accounting.

Judge Price, correctly concluded that, for many reasons, "It didn't amount to anything when they got divorced in December 1998. And so, Ms. Mackessy walked away from that retirement, and likewise, so did Mr. Allinger." RP 164. There is substantial evidence to support Judge Price's finding as detailed above. Furthermore, Ms. Mackessy testified that she did not believe Mr. Allinger would ever return to military service for a multitude of reasons. RP 53-54.

The Decree drafted by Ms. Mackessy includes all encompassing language that Mr. Allinger shall receive "Everything already taken." The language written into the Decree by Ms. Mackessy is clear on its face and unambiguous. Everything would necessarily include both tangible and intangible items including physical property, bank accounts, social security benefits, retirement, CD's, IRA's and "everything" else. It should

be noted that the language drafted by Ms. Mackessy contains no exceptions or limitations. Thus, the retirement earned by Mr. Allinger was included in "everything."

Alternatively, as the court can see the Decree was not a complete agreement. The parties had other agreements that they made and adhered to. The parties did not list household goods, family photos, bank accounts, insurance policies, and so forth. RP 60-61 and 103-104.

Importantly the parties did not even list the student loans incurred during the marriage. These student loans were in excess of \$18,000 but are not mentioned in the Decree. Nonetheless, Ms. Mackessy paid them because this is what they agreed to do between themselves. RP 62-63 and RP 103-104.

It is admitted by Ms. Mackessy that the Decree was not a complete agreement and that the parties made other agreements outside of the Decree. RP 63, lines 5-11. It is admitted by both parties that they divided tangible property and non-tangible property (bank accounts for example) outside of the formal Decree.

The only issue the parties don't agree on regarding the Decree and extraneous agreements is Mr. Allinger's retirement. Again, glaringly, Ms. Mackessy does not say that neither retirement was divided. Only that

Mr. Allinger's retirement was not divided. The fact is that they were both divided, his to him and hers to her.

Ms. Mackessy also had accrued retirement points. Yet she did not ask the court to divide those, or other property that is not specifically mentioned in the Decree, like student loans, family photos, insurance policies, and so forth.

In essence, Ms. Mackessy is asking this court to believe that everything was divided by the parties, either in the Decree or by other agreement, except for Mr. Allinger's accrued retirement points that Ms. Mackessy never believed would amount to anything. This is quite a stretch of reasonableness and inconsistent with the facts. If Ms. Mackessy really wanted this court to divide both retirements, the only reasonable/equitable way to do that is to determine how many points each party earned during the marriage. Then add them up and divide in half with 50% to each party.

Here, Mr. Allinger provided his points earning history.

Ms. Mackessy testified that she earned retirement until 1996 because

Mr. Allinger was activated to Iraq and they could not both be activated so she quit. RP 39. Thus, both parties were earning retirement points from the date of marriage until 1996 when Mr. Allinger was activated to Iraq. (As a

corrective note, Mr. Allinger was not activated to Iraq until 2003, after the parties separated and was deployed for 11 months 22 days.

(Ms. Mackessy's statements inconsistent with this are false.)

Mr. Allinger alleged they had earned similar points and that if they were to be divided that only the minute portion (the difference in the points earned by him versus the points earned by her during the marriage) would be divisible by the court in any event.

Therefore the only "points" that could even be before the court are approximately 16 months of earned "points" between the time

Ms. Mackessy resigned in 1996 and the parties filed for divorce in July

1998. Thus, Ms. Mackessy brought this case allegedly to divide only 16

months of points earned in a 20+ year career of Mr. Allinger. This equates to 6.66% that could be deemed community and 3.33% that Ms. Mackessy is apparently requesting.

It would seem absurd, and frivolous, to spend this amount of time and money for 3% of a former spouse's retirement 17 years after the Decree was entered. This action was pursued simply to harass

Mr. Allinger, a decorated veteran who served his country and became disabled and unable to work as a result of his service to the United States.

This court should award fees to Mr. Allinger for responding to this appeal.

The absurdity of Ms. Mackessy's request was not lost on the trial court. Ms. Mackessy never believed Mr. Allinger would stay in the military or earn a retirement from the military. RP 53-54. Mr. Allinger was activated after September 11, 2001, and eventually retired from military service with 90% disabled status. RP 91. At the time of trial Mr. Allinger received \$2,253 in military retirement. RP 89.

Ms. Mackessy's request is equal to 3% of \$2,253 or \$67.59 per month.

The case appears frivolous/harassment given Ms. Mackessy's asserted income of over \$100,000 annually, as any retirement benefit from Mr. Allinger would be de minimis.

Given the record in this case, and Ms. Mackessy's continued refusal to disclose her military retirement points for division, it appears this case has been promoted simply to harass Mr. Allinger.

Ms. Mackessy's reliance on two cases from California is unwarranted and not relevant. First, the California courts were not interpreting Washington statute or Washington case law. Next, the statute or case law that the California appellate court was interpreting is not disclosed. What relevance is a California Appellate case unless is it interpreting Washington statute? The obvious answer is that it has zero relevance.

In <u>Huddleson</u>, the court found that the wife, "...had not waived her rights in the pension because she did not know what her rights were with respect to it..." <u>Huddleson v. Huddleson</u>, 187 Cal.App. 3d 1564 (1986). Here, Ms. Mackessy knew what her rights were as she had the exact same pension from her military service. Thus, the Huddleson case is useless and irrelevant as "precedent".

Ms. Mackessy's reliance on the Norton case is similarly misplaced.

The Norton case is also UNPUBLISHED. In re Marriage of Norton, Not Reported in Cal.Rptr.3d (2006). RAP 10.4(h) refers to GR 14.1.

GR14.1(b) states:

(b) Other Jurisdictions. A party may cite as an authority an opinion designated "unpublished," "not for publication," "non-precedential," "not precedent," or the like that has been issued by any court from a jurisdiction other than Washington state, only if citation to that opinion is permitted under the law of the jurisdiction of the issuing court. The party citing the opinion shall file and serve a copy of the opinion with the brief or other paper in which the opinion is cited.

On the face of the <u>Norton</u> case it states "California Rules of Court, rule 8.1115, restricts citation of unpublished opinions in California courts."

The rule (attached) prohibits the use of the unpublished case as precedent.

Thus, this court should not even consider <u>Norton</u> as it is unpublished and prohibited as precedent.

IV. Conclusion

Mr. Allinger respectfully requests this court to uphold the decision of the trial court as it was not an abuse of discretion by the trial court to find waiver, estoppel, and that the parties agreed to each keep their own retirement.

Mr. Allinger respectfully requests attorney fees for responding to this appeal as Ms. Mackessy has significant ability to pay and Mr. Allinger has a need for an award for fees. Additionally, this appeal is frivolous and this court has authority to award fees in a frivolous appeal.